IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
Sep 27 2023 02:08 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

ROWEN SEIBEL, MOTI PARTNERS, LLC; MOTI PARTNERS 16, LLC; LLTQ ENTERPRISES, LLC; LLTQ ENTERPRISES 16, LLC; TPOV ENTERPRISES, LLC; TPOV ENTERPRISES 16, LLC; FERG, LLC; FERG 16, LLC; CRAIG GREEN; R SQUARED GLOBAL SOLUTIONS, LLC, Derivatively on Behalf of DNT ACQUISITION, LLC; and GR BURGR, LLC,

Appellants,

vs.

DESERT PALACE, INC.; PARIS LAS VEGAS OPERATING COMPANY, LLC; PHWLTV, LLC; and BOARDWALK REGENCY CORPORATION,

Respondents.

District Court Case No. A-17-760537-B

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF | REDACTED

BAILEY ❖ KENNEDY
JOHN R. BAILEY
Nevada Bar No. 0137

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) because it is an appeal following entry of final judgments resolving all claims and counterclaims. Specifically, on May 31, 2022, the district court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Granting Caesars' Motion for Summary Judgment No. 1 (the "Initial MSJ Order"), notice of entry of which occurred on June 3, 2022 (34 AA7119-41¹); and, on March 22, 2023, the district court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order: (1) Denying Green's Motion for Summary Judgment; (2) Granting Caesars' Counter-Motion for Summary Judgment Against Green; and (3) Granting Caesars' Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment Against Seibel and the Seibel-Affiliated Entities (the "Subsequent MSJ Order"), notice of entry of which occurred on March 28, 2023 (42 AA9066-83).

On April 21, 2023, the Development Parties timely filed their Notice of Appeal. (42 AA9105-08.)

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court hears and decides this appeal because this case originated in business court. NRAP 17(a)(9).

¹ "AA" refers to Appellants' Appendix. Pursuant to NRAP 30(a), the parties attempted but could not reach an agreement concerning a possible joint appendix. For citation purposes, the number preceding AA refers to the applicable Volume and the number succeeding AA refers to the page number(s).

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This appeal presents the following issues for review:

1. Did the district court err by granting summary judgment in favor of Caesars² against Seibel and the Development Entities³ on (i) the claims for declaratory relief asserted by Caesars and (ii) the counterclaims for breach of contract asserted by the LLTQ/FERG Parties⁴ and DNT?
2. Did the district court err by granting summary judgment in favor of Caesars against Seibel, Green, and the Development Entities on the claims for coercive relief asserted by Caesars?
3. Did the district court misapply the law by finding that Caesars could exercise a unilateral right to terminate the contracts at issue in this case in its sole and absolute discretion irrespective of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing?⁵

² “Caesars” refers to Desert Palace, Inc. (“Desert Palace”); Paris Las Vegas Operating Company, LLC (“Paris”); PHWLTV, LLC (“PH”); and Boardwalk Regency Corporation (“Boardwalk”).

³ “Development Entities” refers to Moti; Moti 16; LLTQ; LLTQ 16; TPOV; TPOV 16; FERG; FERG 16; R Squared, derivatively on behalf of DNT; and GRB.

⁴ “LLTQ/FERG Parties” refers to LLTQ; LLTQ 16; FERG; and FERG 16.

⁵ This issue is also the subject of the appeal docketed at Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 84934.

4. Did the district court ignore the law by permitting Caesars to morph its contract claims into tort claims?

5. Did the district court err by striking the Amended Counterclaims that were filed by the Moti/TPOV Parties,⁶ the LLTQ/FERG Parties, and DNT in response to Caesars' First Amended Complaint?

6. Due to these errors, should this case be randomly reassigned on remand?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is a civil action concerning numerous successful restaurants at various hotels and casinos owned and operated by Caesars. (*See, e.g.*, 28 AA5708-09.) Between March 2009 and December 2012, Caesars entered into six (6) contracts (collectively, the "Agreements") with certain of the Development Entities and, for some, Gordon Ramsay ("Ramsay"), related to the following restaurants (collectively, the "Restaurants"): (i) Serendipity 3; (ii) Old Homestead Steakhouse (the "Old Homestead"); (iii) Gordon Ramsay Steak in Las Vegas ("GR Steak LV"); (iv) Gordon Ramsay Pub & Grill in Las Vegas ("GR Pub LV"); (v) Gordon Ramsay Burger f/k/a BurGR Gordon Ramsay ("GR Burger"); and (vi) Gordon

⁶ "Moti/TPOV Parties" refers to Moti; Moti 16; TPOV; and TPOV 16.

Ramsay Pub & Grill in Atlantic City (“GR Pub AC”). (27 AA5592-93.) The Development Entities conceived the ideas for opening these Restaurants, and, in certain instances, provided significant capital to help Caesars build them. (27 AA5476, 5484, 5494, 5504; 5512, 5528; 30 AA6402-03 at ¶¶ 4-13, 15.)

In September 2016, Caesars terminated the Agreements upon finding that Seibel, an alleged affiliate of the Development Entities, was unsuitable. (*See, e.g.*, 25 AA5137.) Caesars did so without first attempting to work with the Development Entities so that they could timely dissociate from Seibel to Caesars’ satisfaction—completely ignoring the Development Entities’ good faith attempts to work with Caesars in an attempt to cure its suitability concerns. (21 AA4266-70; 28 AA5708-09, 5749-50.) Except for Serendipity 3, Caesars continued operating the Restaurants in violation of the Agreements.⁷ (30 AA6402 at ¶¶ 4-11.)

In short, Caesars stripped itself of the Agreements’ burdens while retaining their benefits—*i.e.*, Caesars avoided paying more than ██████████ in fees and profits to the Development Entities while retaining their intellectual property and seven-figure capital investments, a win-win for Caesars. (*See* 27 AA5691.)

⁷ Affiliates of Caesars subsequently opened the following restaurants without involving the Development Entities or their affiliates in violation of the Agreements (collectively, the “New Ventures”): Gordon Ramsay Fish & Chips (“GR F&C”); Gordon Ramsay Steak in Baltimore (“GR Steak Baltimore”); Gordon Ramsay Steak in Atlantic City (“GR Steak AC”); and Gordon Ramsay Steak in Kansas City (“GR Steak KC”). (*See, e.g.*, 30 AA6403 at ¶¶ 12-13.)

B. Course of the Proceedings.

In February 2017, Seibel, a 50% member of GRB, initiated an earlier case, derivatively on behalf of GRB, against PH and Ramsay, asserting contract-based claims related to GR Burger. (1 AA1-36.) In June 2017, Seibel filed a First Amended Verified Complaint. (1 AA41-75.)

In July 2017, PH and Ramsay each filed an Answer. (1 AA76-122.) PH separately filed a Counterclaim against Seibel, individually, asserting tort claims for conduct allegedly related to GR Burger. (1 AA98-122.) In August 2017, Seibel filed his Reply. (1 AA168-73.)

In August 2017, Caesars initiated this case against Seibel and the Development Entities, seeking judicial declarations: (i) that Caesars properly terminated the Agreements; (ii) that Caesars has no past, present or future obligations under the Agreements; and (iii) that Caesars is not bound by the future restaurants clauses in the Agreements.⁸ (1 AA128-67.) The earlier case was subsequently consolidated with this case.⁹ (1 AA214-17.)

⁸ Although Caesars also sued its former Regional VP of Food & Beverage, J. Jeffrey Frederick (“Frederick”), it did not assert any claims against him. (1 AA128-67.) He was subsequently dismissed from this case. (2 AA481-82.)

⁹ PH and Ramsay prevailed in the earlier case on summary judgment—the subject of Nevada Supreme Court Case Nos. 84934 and 86359.

In July 2018, Seibel and the Development Entities filed their Answers. (1 AA225-45; 2 AA246-338.) The LLTQ/FERG Parties and DNT also filed Counterclaims against Desert Palace and Boardwalk, asserting contract-based claims related to three of the Restaurants (Old Homestead, GR Pub LV, and GR Pub AC) and two New Ventures (*i.e.*, GR F&C and GR Steak Baltimore).¹⁰ (2 AA283-338.)

In October 2018, the district court entered an order permitting The Original Homestead Restaurant, Inc. (“OHR”), a party to the Agreement for Old Homestead and a 50% member of DNT, to intervene in this case. (2 AA381-83.) OHR then asserted a claim for declaratory relief against Desert Palace related to Old Homestead. (2 AA389-405.)¹¹

In the interim, GR US Licensing, LP (“GRUS”), the other 50% member of GRB, initiated a proceeding in Delaware, seeking to judicially dissolve GRB due to PH’s termination of the Agreement for GR Burger. (20 AA4087.) Eventually, Seibel was assigned the right to defend the claims that were asserted in this case by

¹⁰ By this time, the TPOV Parties were pursuing contract-based claims against Paris related to GR Steak LV in federal court. (*See, e.g.*, 30 AA6378-86.) Similarly, the Moti Parties were pursuing contract-based claims against Desert Palace related to Serendipity 3 in bankruptcy court. (*See id.*)

¹¹ OHR voluntarily dismissed its claim in June 2022. (34 AA7113-18.)

Caesars against GRB. (22 AA4505-15.) Seibel then substituted in GRB's place. (20 AA4080-83.)

In October 2019, the LLTQ/FERG Parties requested leave to amend their Counterclaims in order to assert additional contract-based claims against Desert Palace and Boardwalk related to one additional New Venture (*i.e.*, GR Steak AC). (3 AA488-604.) The motion was denied. (4 AA759-62.)

In December 2019, Caesars requested leave to amend its Complaint in order to assert four tort claims against Seibel and Green and one contract-based claim against the Development Entities for conduct that was both covered by and, simultaneously, not covered by the Agreements. (4 AA770-86.) The motion was granted (5 AA1088-92) and Caesars filed its First Amended Complaint in March 2020 (5 AA1101-47).

In June 2020, Seibel, Green, and the Development Entities filed their Answer to the First Amended Complaint. (6 AA1231-81.) The Development Entities (except for GRB) also filed Amended Counterclaims against Caesars, asserting contract-based claims related to the Restaurants (except for GR Burger, which was the subject of the earlier case) and the New Ventures. (*Id.*)

In July 2020, Caesars moved to strike the Amended Counterclaims. (6 AA1303-15.) The motion was granted.¹² (13 AA2626-39.)

Finally, as relevant to this appeal, in February 2021, the district court entered a written order on competing discovery motions. (13 AA2657-64.) The district court denied a request by Seibel, Green, and the Development Entities to re-depose Caesars in response to its First Amended Complaint; and granted a request by Caesars to re-depose Green in response to its First Amended Complaint. (*Id.*)

C. Disposition Below.

In February 2021, Caesars moved for summary judgment (the “Initial MSJ”) on (i) its claims for declaratory relief and (ii) the initial Counterclaims asserted by the LLTQ/FERG Parties and DNT (collectively, the “Termination Claims”). (13 AA2701-26.) The Opposition was filed in March 2021 (20 AA4126-75) and a Reply was filed in November 2021 (31 AA6453-76).¹³ The hearing was held in December 2021. (33 AA6820-935.) The district court entered the Initial MSJ Order in May 2022. (34 AA7052-71.)

¹² This issue was the subject of a writ petition (Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 82448). On October 22, 2021, this Court entered an order denying the writ petition, finding that the Development Entities could raise the issue on appeal.

¹³ Supplemental briefing was submitted in December 2021 and January 2022. (33 AA6957-69, 6993-7002.)

In July 2022, Caesars counter/cross-moved for summary judgment (the “Subsequent MSJ”) on its remaining claims (the “Marketing Claims”). (35 AA7450-75.) Oppositions were filed in August 2022 (38 AA8101-45) and an omnibus Reply was filed in October 2022 (39 AA8436-52). The hearing was held in November 2022. (42 AA8879-9023.) The district court entered the Subsequent MSJ Order in March 2023. (42 AA9066-83.)

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are taken as true, together with all reasonable inferences drawn from them. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005).

A. Seibel Revamps Caesars’ Restaurants.

In the late 2000s, Seibel—a popular restaurateur—was approached by Caesars to open a new restaurant in Las Vegas. (29 AA5963.) The relationship quickly blossomed and, with Seibel’s help, including an introduction to Ramsay, Caesars opened numerous successful restaurants in Las Vegas and other cities. (*See, e.g.*, 29 AA6004-05, 6054-56, 6099; 30 AA6298, 6402-03 at ¶¶ 4-13.) In Caesars’ words, “[REDACTED].”¹⁴ (24 AA4985.)

¹⁴ Seibel routinely advised Caesars of ways to improve the Restaurants’ operations. (24 AA4924-26, 5009-11; 29 AA6073-74; 30 AA6403 at ¶15.)

B. The Agreements.

Caesars entered into the Agreements with Moti, DNT, TPOV, LLTQ, GRB, and FERG—entities that were owned, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by Seibel—to design, develop, construct, and operate the Restaurants, as follows:

- In 2009, Desert Palace and Moti entered into the “**Moti Agreement**” for the operation of Serendipity 3. (14 AA2746-68.) Desert Palace agreed to pay a [REDACTED] to Moti in exchange for the non-exclusive right to use the Serendipity brand. (*Id.*) Moti contributed [REDACTED] to build the Restaurant and helped design it. (*Id.*) Serendipity 3 opened in April 2009 and closed in December 2016. (30 AA6402 at ¶6.)

- In 2011, Desert Palace and DNT (a joint venture between R Squared and OHR) entered into the “**DNT Agreement**” for the operation of Old Homestead. (14 AA2778-823.) Desert Palace agreed to pay a [REDACTED] [REDACTED] to DNT in exchange for the non-exclusive right to use the Old Homestead brand. (*Id.*) Old Homestead opened in December 2011 and closed in May 2023.¹⁵ (30 AA6402 at ¶7.)

- In 2011, Paris and TPOV entered into the “**TPOV Agreement**” for the operation of GR Steak LV. (14 AA2824-57.) Paris agreed to pay a [REDACTED]

¹⁵ Old Homestead closed after the district court entered its Initial MSJ Order.

██████████ to TPOV in exchange for a ██████████, to be repaid over time, and assistance with developing the Restaurant. (*Id.*) GR Steak LV opened in May 2012 and remains in operation. (30 AA6402 at ¶8.)

- In 2012, Desert Palace and LLTQ entered into the “**LLTQ Agreement**” for the operation of GR Pub LV. (14 AA2859-93.) Desert Palace agreed to pay a ██████████ to LLTQ in exchange for a ██████████ ██████████, to be repaid over time, and assistance with developing the Restaurant. (*Id.*) GR Pub LV opened in December 2012 and remains in operation. (30 AA6402 at ¶9.)

- Also in 2012, PH and GRB (a joint venture between Seibel and GRUS, an entity indirectly owned by Ramsay) entered into the “**GRB Agreement**” for the operation of GR Burger. (15 AA2976-3019.) PH agreed to pay a ██████████ to GRB in exchange for the non-exclusive right to use its intellectual property for a casual, gourmet, burger-centric restaurant. (*Id.*) GR Burger opened in December 2012 and remains in operation. (30 AA6402 at ¶10.)

- In 2014, Boardwalk and FERG entered into the “**FERG Agreement**” for the operation of GR Pub AC. (15 AA3049-87.) Boardwalk agreed to pay a ██████████ to FERG in exchange for assistance with developing the Restaurant. (*Id.*) GR Pub AC opened in February 2015 and remains in operation. (30 AA6402 at ¶11.)

These Restaurants have been incredibly successful. (28 AA5701; 29 AA5971-72.) For example, between December 2012 and December 2019, GR Steak LV and GR Burger reported gross restaurant sales of [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], respectively. (27 AA5659, 5686.)

Each Agreement vests Caesars with discretionary termination rights based upon suitability concerns with affiliates of the Development Entities; provided, however, that each Agreement expressly contemplates that any suitability issue is subject to cure, as follows: the Development Entity will “[REDACTED] [REDACTED],” unless Caesars determines, in its discretion, that the relationship is not subject to cure. (*See, e.g.*, 14 AA2757 at §9.2; 14 AA2847 at §10.2; 15 AA3004-05 at §11.2.)

Further, at Caesars’ request, the LLTQ Agreement contains a provision (the “Future Restaurants Clause”) stating that Caesars shall involve LLTQ or its affiliates in Gordon-Ramsay branded restaurants in the general nature of a pub, bar, café, tavern, or steakhouse that may be opened in the future.¹⁶ (14 AA2890 at §13.22; *see also* 24 AA4892.) Caesars understood that clause to mean exactly what it says; namely, that Caesars cannot “[REDACTED]

[REDACTED].”

¹⁶ A Future Restaurants Clause also appears in the GRB Agreement for a Gordon Ramsay-branded burger centric restaurant. (24 AA4884 at §14.21.)

(24 AA4962; *see also* 21 AA4222, 4224, 4227; 24 AA4959-60, 4994-96; 25 AA5168.)

C. The Parties' Relationship Deteriorates.

Once Seibel paved the path for Caesars to operate profitable restaurants, Caesars decided [REDACTED] (24 AA4985.) Caesars disliked Seibel and viewed as "[REDACTED]" and "[REDACTED]" the fact that Seibel was indirectly (through the Development Entities) profiting from the Restaurants. (23 AA4595; 24 AA4955-57, 4964-67, 4969, 4973, 4977.) Indeed, Caesars [REDACTED]. (23 AA4595.)

Ramsay wanted nothing to do with Seibel, either, and demanded that [REDACTED] ngs. (24 AA4999; *see also* 24 AA5017.) He actively encouraged Caesars to part ways with any company owned by Seibel. (23 AA4601.)

D. Seibel Discloses the Criminal Matter to Caesars.

In late 2013, [REDACTED] [REDACTED] (29 AA6022, 6028-30.) The Agreements do not specify whether this type of information must be disclosed to Caesars. (*See, e.g.*, 14 AA2847 at §10.2.) For the Moti Agreement and the DNT Agreement, Caesars had asked Seibel to complete a Business Information Form ("BIF"). (14 AA2735-44, 2770-76.) The BIF required disclosure [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]¹⁷ (14 AA2739 at Question 7.)

Notwithstanding, on January 9, 2014, Seibel told Frederick, his “[REDACTED]
[REDACTED]” at Caesars (28 AA5884), during an in-person meeting in New
York [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]¹⁸ (29 AA6026-27, 6033-35.) At the meeting, Frederick specifically
[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]¹⁹ (29 AA6035.)

¹⁷ [REDACTED]
[REDACTED]
[REDACTED]. (23 AA4588 at Questions 8(d), 8(f).)

¹⁸ Seibel’s testimony was substantiated by: (i) testimony from his transactional counsel, Brian Ziegler, Esq. (“Ziegler”), who attended the meeting with Frederick; (ii) Ziegler’s billing entry for the meeting; and (iii) a follow-up email from Frederick to Seibel sent in August 2014, [REDACTED]
[REDACTED] (24 AA4981-83, 5002-03; 28 AA5907, 5923-24; 30 AA6393 at ¶16.)

By law, Caesars was charged with knowledge of information disclosed by Seibel to Frederick related to the investigation. *In re Amerco Derivative Litig.*, 127 Nev. 196, 214, 252 P.3d 681, 695 (2011).

¹⁹ Seibel testified [REDACTED]
[REDACTED]. (30 AA6185-89.)

E. The Amendment.

In May 2014, the parties amended the Agreements (the “Amendment”) in order to permit the Development Entities [REDACTED]. (24 AA4989-92.) Caesars agreed to the Amendment without inquiring as to the motivation behind it. (28 AA5889-90; *see also* 25 AA5090.)

F. The Trust.

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