IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 86462

ROWEN SEIBEL, MOTI PARTNERS, LLC; MOTI PARTNERS 16, LLC;
LLTQ ENTERPRISES, LLC; LLTQ ENTERPRISES 16, LLC; TPOV ENTERPRISES 16, LLC; FERG, LLC; FERG
16, LLC; CRAIG GREEN; R SQUARED GLOBAL SOLUTIONS, LLC
Derivatively on Behalf of DNT ACQUISITION, LLC; and GR BURGR, LLC,
Appellants,

Electronically Filed
Dec 21, 2023 05:16 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

DESERT PALACE, INC.; PARIS LAS VEGAS OPERATING COMPANY,
LLC; PHWLTV, LLC; and BOARDWALK REGENCY CORPORATION,
Respondents.

District Court Case No. A-17-760537-B;
Consolidated with District Court Case No. A-17-751759-B

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment

1. *Standard of Review*

"This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo." *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). "Summary judgment is appropriate under NRCP 56 when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions, and affidavits, if any, that are properly before the court demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Wood*, 121 Nev. at 731, 121 P.3d 1031. "The purpose of summary judgment 'is to avoid a needless trial when an appropriate showing is made in advance that there is no genuine issue of material fact to be tried, and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.'" *McDonald v. D.P. Alexander & Las Vegas Boulevard, LLC*, 121 Nev. 815, 819, 123 P.3d 748, 750 (2005) (quoting *Coray v. Ham*, 80 Nev. 39, 40-41, 389 P.2d 76, 77 (1964)); *see also* NRCP 56(a) ("The court shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.")

"To successfully oppose a motion for summary judgment, the non-moving party must show specific facts, rather than general allegations and conclusions, presenting a genuine issue of material fact for trial." *LaMantia v. Redisi*, 118 Nev.

27, 29, 38 P.3d 877, 879 (2002). "While the pleadings and other proof must be construed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, that party bears the burden to 'do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt' as to the operative facts in order to avoid summary judgment being entered in the moving party's favor." *Wood*, 121 Nev. at 732, 121 P.3d at 1031 (quoting *Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp.*, 475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986)). Instead, "the nonmoving party 'must, by affidavit or otherwise, set forth specific facts demonstrating the existence of a genuine issue for trial or have summary judgment entered against him.'" *Id.* at 732, 121 P.3d at 1031 (quoting *Bulbman, Inc. v. Nev. Bell*, 108 Nev. 105, 110, 825 P.2d 588, 591 (1992)). Moreover, "[t]he Court will consider the substance of evidence that would be admissible at trial even if the form of the evidence is improper so long as that same evidence may be admissible in another form." *Hartranft v. Encore Cap. Grp., Inc.*, 543 F. Supp. 3d 893, 914–15 (S.D. Cal. 2021).

"A factual dispute is genuine when the evidence is such that a rational trier of fact could return a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Wood*, 121 Nev. at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031. "The substantive law controls which factual disputes are material and will preclude summary judgment; other factual disputes are irrelevant." *Id.* at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031.

2. A District Court May Apply Common Sense at Summary Judgment

"While judges in summary judgment proceedings are not to make credibility determinations, they are not to ignore common sense and human experience. Indeed, common sense and human experience always have a significant role to play in judging and in assessing what inferences may reasonably be drawn from a given set of facts." *HCP of Ill., Inc. v. Farbman Grp. I, Inc.*, 978 F. Supp. 2d 943, 946 n.1 (N.D. Ill. 2013) (citation omitted); *see also Nat'l Amusements, Inc. v. Town of Dedham*, 43 F.3d 731, 743 (1st Cir. 1995) ("While the summary judgment mantra requires us to draw every reasonable inference in favor of the nonmoving party, inferences, to qualify, must flow rationally from the underlying facts; that is, a suggested inference must ascend to what common sense and human experience indicates is an acceptable level of probability."); *Green v. MOBIS Ala., LLC*, 995 F. Supp. 2d 1285, 1308 (M.D. Ala. 2014), *aff'd*, 613 F. App'x 788 (11th Cir. 2015) ("While it is true that a court may not make credibility determinations at the summary judgment stage and must draw all inferences in favor of the non-moving party, the Court does not believe that the summary judgment standard so dulls common sense as to require it to ignore the obvious.").

Importantly, "at summary judgment, ***a court need not draw all possible inferences in plaintiff's favor, but only all reasonable ones***, and a reasonable inference is one based on more than mere speculation, conjecture, or fantasy." *Li v.*

Cnty. of Los Angeles, 223 F. App'x 619, 620 (9th Cir. 2007) (emphasis added) (citing *Villiarimo v. Aloha Island Air, Inc.*, 281 F.3d 1054, 1065 n.10 (9th Cir. 2002)). Thus, ***"where a party opposing summary judgment fails to produce 'substantial factual evidence to combat summary judgment and there is 'overwhelming evidence' favoring the moving party, it may be unreasonable to draw an inference contrary to the movant's interpretation of the facts,* and therefore a summary judgment would be appropriate[.]"** *United States v. 1980 Red Ferrari*, VIN No. 9A0034335, Oregon License No. GPN 835, 827 F.2d 477, 479 (9th Cir. 1987) (emphasis added) (quoting *Barnes v. Arden Mayfair, Inc.*, 759 F.2d 676, 681 (9th Cir. 1985)).

3. *The District Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment Because Caesars Had the Express and Absolute Right to Terminate the Seibel Agreements.*

Appellants do not, and cannot, argue that the termination provisions of the Seibel Agreements are in any way ambiguous. And, as this Court knows, "[i]n the absence of ambiguity or other factual complexities, contract interpretation presents a question of law that the district court may decide on summary judgment." *Galardi v. Naples Polaris, LLC*, 129 Nev. 306, 309, 301 P.3d 364, 366 (2013) (citations omitted). "As a general rule, [courts] construe unambiguous contracts . . . according to their plain language." *Sheehan & Sheehan v. Nelson Malley & Co.*, 121 Nev. 481, 487–88, 117 P.3d 219, 223–24 (2005); *Ringle v. Bruton*, 120 Nev. 82, 93, 86 P.3d 1032, 1039 (2004) ("[W]hen a contract is clear, unambiguous, and complete, its

terms must be given their plain meaning and the contract must be enforced as written."); *Dickenson v. State, Dep't of Wildlife*, 110 Nev. 934, 937, 877 P.2d 1059, 1061 (1994) ("[I]f no ambiguity exists, the words of the contract must be taken in their usual and ordinary signification.").

As discussed *supra*, [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED].

Here, Seibel cannot, and did not, dispute that he is a convicted felon. Further, Seibel cannot, and did not, dispute that being a convicted felon placed him under the [REDACTED].

And Seibel cannot, and did not, dispute that he failed to provide written disclosure¹⁴ of his criminal conduct and unsuitability.¹⁵ Moreover, Seibel cannot legitimately

¹⁴ Notably, while Seibel claims he verbally informed certain Caesars' executives, they dispute his account (17 AA03455) and, most importantly, Seibel himself he never disclosed his criminal investigation, conduct, or conviction to Caesars. See (18 AA03719-20).

¹⁵ Instead, [REDACTED] the

dispute that his conduct – once it came to light – forced Caesars' hand as gaming regulators even began questioning the relationship.

Instead, Seibel tries to distract this Court by claiming that the termination was in bad faith because Caesars failed to give the Seibel-Affiliated Entities any opportunity to cure. But, "one generally cannot base a claim for breach of the implied covenant on conduct authorized by the terms of the agreement." *Miller v. FiberLight, LLC*, 808 S.E.2d 75, 87 (Ga. App. Ct. 2017) (quoting *Dunlap v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 878 A.2d 434, 441 (C) (Del. 2005)); *see also Vitek v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, No. 8:13-CV-816-JLS ANX, 2014 WL 1042397, at *5 (C.D. Cal. Jan. 23, 2014) (citation omitted) ("In general, acting in accordance with an express contractual provision does not amount to bad faith."). "In other words, 'a party does not act in bad faith by relying on contract provisions for which that party bargained where doing so simply limits advantages to another party.'" *Miller*, 808 S.E.2d at 87 (quoting *Alpha Balanced Fund, LLLP v. Irongate Performance Fund, LLC*, 802 S.E.2d 357 (Ga. 2017)).

Importantly, a claim of "bad faith" does not preclude summary judgment. In fact, "when there is no factual basis for concluding that a defendant acted in bad

[REDACTED]
[REDACTED]
[REDACTED]. (16 AA03109-10).

faith, a court may determine the issue of bad faith as a matter of law." *Tennier v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, No. 3:14-CV-0035-LRH-VPC, 2015 WL 128672, at *7 (D. Nev. Jan. 8, 2015) (*quoting Andrew v. Century Sur. Co.*, No. 2:12-cv-0978, 2014 WL 1764740, at *10 (D. Nev. Apr. 29, 2014)).

Here, the language of the Seibel Agreements [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]. (*See, e.g.*, 14 AA02838, 02847). Moreover, the overwhelming evidence considered by the district court showed that the only parties acting in bad faith were Appellants. Seibel admitted that he did not inform Caesars of his felony, related criminal conduct, or guilty plea. Importantly, Caesars did not terminate the Seibel Agreements because of some minor or inconsequential transgression. Instead, Caesars terminated the Seibel Agreements because Seibel engaged in felonious criminal activity, pled guilty, and was convicted of one count of corrupt endeavor to obstruct and impede the due administration of the Internal Revenue Laws, for which he served time in a federal prison. He concealed all of this from Caesars and actively and intentionally tried to conceal the relevant information so that Caesars would unknowingly continue to do business with him despite his unsuitable status.

Even if the Seibel Agreements required Caesars to provide an opportunity to cure – they did not – Seibel's own conduct in hiding his criminal matter and lying to Caesars foreclosed any opportunity to cure. *See Bart St. III v. ACC Enters., LLC*, No. 217CV00083GMNVCF, 2020 WL 1638329, at *4 (D. Nev. Apr. 1, 2020) (quoting *Bradley v. Nev.-Cal.-Or. Ry.*, 42 Nev. 411, 178 P. 906, 908 (Nev. 1919)). ("Nevada law provides, 'the party who commits the first breach of the contract cannot maintain an action against the other for a subsequent failure to perform.'") Indeed, the *"implied promise of good faith and fair dealing is 'reciprocal,' a 'two-way street' which demands mutual compliance from the contracting parties."* *Los Angeles Mem'l Coliseum Comm'n v. Nat'l Football League*, 791 F.2d 1356, 1361 (9th Cir. 1986) (citation omitted) (emphasis added). There is "no justice in permitting a plaintiff to complain of unfair dealing in a [t]ransaction when he himself has not fulfilled in good faith his contractual obligations with regard to that transaction." *Id.* at 1362 (citation omitted). Appellants' arguments that Caesars did not act in good faith when it terminated the Seibel Agreements – [REDACTED] – are completely destroyed by Seibel and Seibel-Affiliated Entities' fraud perpetrated against Caesars.

4. *The District Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment Because Section 13.22 of the LLTQ Agreement and Section 4.1*

of the FERG Agreement Constitute Agreements to Agree and Are Unenforceable as a Matter of Public Policy.

Appellants argue that whether Caesars could continue to operate restaurants is a genuine issue of material fact, which therefore precluded the district court entrance of summary judgment. (Opening Br. 43-46). But, the district court here properly determined that Sections 13.22 of the LLTQ Agreement and Section 4.1 of the FERG Agreement were not only agreements to agree, but unenforceable as a matter of public policy.

Under Nevada law, contract terms must be interpreted to give meaning to all terms and to avoid creating a nullity. *Musser v. Bank of Am.*, 114 Nev. 945, 949, 964 P.2d 51, 54 (1998) (quoting *Royal Indem. Co. v. Special Serv.*, 82 Nev. 148, 150, 413 P.2d 500, 502 (1966) ("A basic rule of contract interpretation is that '[e]very word must be given effect if at all possible.'"); *see also Phillips v. Mercer*, 94 Nev. 279, 282, 579 P.2d 174, 176 (1978) ("A court should not interpret a contract so as to make meaningless its provisions.") Likewise, contracts must be interpreted so as to avoid absurd results. *Reno Club v. Young Inv. Co.*, 64 Nev. 312, 325, 182 P.2d 1011, 1017 (1947) ("A contract should not be construed so as to lead to an absurd result.")

Here, Sections 13.22 of the LLTQ Agreement and Section 4.1 of the FERG Agreement, like all other terms of the Seibel Agreements, were subject to Appellants' obligation to maintain suitability. This is an unwavering requirement in doing business with a gaming licensee. Any other interpretation renders the suitability

provisions of the Siebel Agreements a nullity, which is not only contrary to basic rules of contract interpretation, but also to the very regulations Caesars is subject to as a gaming licensee. *See Gaston v. Drake*, 14 Nev. 175, 181 (1879) (emphasis added) ("It cannot be doubted at this day, nor is it denied, that a contract will not be enforced if it is against public policy, or that, if a part of the consideration of an entire contract is illegal as against public policy or sound morals, the whole contract is void."); *see also Martinez v. Johnson*, 61 Nev. 125, 119 P.2d 880 (1941) ("The general rule is that an act done, or contract made, in disobedience of the law, creates no right of action which a court of justice will enforce.") Stated simply, it would be against public policy to require Caesars, or any gaming licensee, to continue to engage in business with an unsuitable person as such an obligation would defeat the very self-policing obligations and suitability mandates imposed on all gaming licensees.

Moreover, the district court properly found that, even if not barred by public policy, Sections 13.22 of the LLTQ Agreement and Section 4.1 of the FERG Agreement are not enforceable because they constitute agreements to agree. (34 AA07064). Indeed, the law is clear, "***[a]n agreement to agree at a future time is nothing and will not support an action for damages.***" *City of Reno v. Silver State Flying Serv., Inc.*, 84 Nev. 170, 176, 438 P.2d 257, 261 (1968) (emphasis added) (quoting *Salomon v. Cooper*, 98 Cal. App. 2d 521, 220 P.2d 774 (1950)); *see also*

US W. Commc'ns v. MFS Intelenet, Inc., 193 F.3d 1112, 1125 (9th Cir. 1999) (citing *Kapetan v. Kelso*, 4 Wash. App. 312, 481 P.2d 24, 25 n.17 (1971)) ("Generally, an agreement to agree in the future is not enforceable.").

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